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State of South Carolina v. Tyrone Dennis
Case No. 11-GS-10-3961 et al
Hearing of October 15, 2012
before The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.

THE COURT: You are Tyrone Dennis?
DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.
THE COURT: Mr. Dennis, Indictment

Number 2011-3961 charges you with Burglary in
the first degree; Indictment Number 2011—4927
charges you with another Burglary 1%t offense.
Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You are standing with Ms.
Frayer. Does she represent you?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has she explained these
charges to you?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has she explained to you
that these are Most Serious offenses?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you understand the
meaning of that term? |

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has she explained to you

. that they are Violent offenses?

DEFENDANT.: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: And has she explained to

you that it is a nonparoleable offense?



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

State of South Carolina v. Tyrone Dennis 3

Case No. 11-GS-10-3961 et al
Hearing of October 15, 2012
before The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.

DEFENDANT : Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And you understand the
significance of that term?

DEFENDANT : I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that
normally I can sentence you up to life
imprisonment on each of those?

DEFENDANT : I do.

THE COURT: You, through your lawyer,
have apparently negotiated a sentence which you
are asking me to impose; is that true?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. What are the

terms of the negotiated sentence, Mr. Stoney?

SOLICITOR: = Fifteen years,
concurrent.

THE COURT: Ms. Frayer, is that your
understanding?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Dennis, I am going to

- ask you to raise your right hand.

DEFENDANT : (Complies) .
THE COURT: Do you swear or affirm
that all of your responses to my questions will

be the truth and nothing but the truth, so help
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State of South Carolina v. Tyrone Dennis 4
" Case No. 11-GS-10-3961 et al
Hearing of October 15, 2012
before The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.

you God?

DEFENDANT : Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Understanding then, Mr.
Dennis, and you have previously indicated to me
that your lawyer has explained to you what a
negotiated sentence means. Do you understand
that?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir. _

THE COURT: Basically a negotiated
sentence is that you’ré asking me to accept what
you’ve worked out with the State and to impose a
fifteen year sentence on each of these charges.
Is that correct?

DEFENDANT : Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Understanding that I
would sentence you to fifteen years on each
offense, give you credit for the time that you
have served and run them'concurrently; what is
your plea? Guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT : Guilty.

THE COURT: You are totally satisfied
with your lawyer sir?

DEFENDANT : I am.

THE COURT: Are you today under the

influence of any alcohol or any medication?
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DEFENDANT : No, I am not.

THE COURT: Have you consumed any
alcohol or any type of medication within the
last twenty-four hours?

DEFENDANT : I have not.

THE COURT: In the past, sir, have
you been treated for any emotional problems, any
mental illness?

DEFENDANT : No, I have not.

.THE COURT: You’ve reviewed with your
lawyer the result of her investigation on your
behalf?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And she’s addressed any
concerns that you may have and has answered all
of the questions you may have had concerning
these charges?

DEFENDANT : She has.

THE COURT: And it is your decision
to enter this plea; is that correct?

DEFENDANT : It is.

THE COURT: Ms. Frayer, you have
investigated this matter fully on your client’s
behalf?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, sir, Your Honor, I
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have.

THE COURT: And you, as he has
indicated, have shared fully the results of your
investigation with him? .

MS. FRAYER: Yes, Your Honor. I even
went back, just to @e sure, because this was
scheduled for trial -- we were always working it
up for trial. I got a letter from Mr. Dennis
telling me that he wanted to plea. So I spoke
with the solicitor, went‘back to Mr. Dennis,
even last night I visited with him at the jail..
I teld him that I work for him and askéd what he
wanted me to do. We looked at the cases and
everything and Mr. Dennis tells me that this is
still what he wanfs to do, today.

THE COURT: Okay. After fully
discussing it with him,’you negotiated the best
arrangements that you could for him?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And the record now
reflects the results of your efforts; that is, a
fifteen year sentence on each of these, to run
concurrently?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, sif.

QHE COURT: Based on your
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investigation, do you concur with his decision
to enter the guilty pleas on each indictment?
MS. FRAYER: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: And based on your
investigation and your discussions, do you
believe the negotiated sentence to be in your

client’s best interest?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Mr. Dennis, is that true,
sir?

DEFENDANT : It is, sir.

THE COURT: Then you realize and

underétand, sir, that if I accept your plea that
you will not have a jury trial, nor will you
confront the witnesses against you in either of
these cases?

DEFENDANT : Yes, I do.

THE COURT: DQ you realize that you
are giving up your Constitutional rights to
remain silent, as well?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has anyone threatened or
promised you anything to enter this sentence?

DEFENDANT : No they haven’t, sir.

THE COURT: Other than the promises
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which are contained in the negotiated sentence,
any other promise been made to you to get you to
plead gquilty, sir?
DEFENDANT : No, sir.

THE COURT: Is there any question of

‘your guilt in either case, sir?

DEFENDANT : No, sir.

THE COURT: Solicitor) if you would,
please tell me the facts.

SOLICITOR: Thank you, Your Honor.
I am going to start with 2011-4927, which
occurred on April 8%, 2010, at —
Street. This defendant broke into the victim’s
residence through a window. He attempted to
steal a 40 inch television. He detached all the
cables, except failed to detach the one that was
attached to the computer next to it. The victim
woke up and this defendant fled through the
window. Latent prints from the television

matched positive to this defendant.

Then on December 4%, 2010',V-at-
— Charleston County, the defendant

entered the victim’s apartment through an
unlocked french door. He walked in and stole a

laptop computer off of the table in the kitchen.
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Video surveillance captured him walking down the
stairs of the apartment complex, sticking the
laptop in his jacket. He was picked up four
days later. A BOLO was sent out with his
picture and police recognized him as a hotdog
vendor.

As we've said, this is a negotiated
fifteen years. His prior record within the last
ten years, all he has is a 2009 breaking and
entering motor vehicle and a 2009 trespass.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Dennis, are
those facts correct?

DEFENDANT : They are, sir.

THE COURT: Have you truthfully
responded to all of my guestions, sir?

DEFENDANT : I have, sir.

THE COURT: You realize and
understand that I will be relying on yodr
responses here today?

DEFENDANT : I do, sir.

THE COURT: Very well. I find that
Mr. Dennis has had the benefit of very competent
counsel, with whom he has indicated he is

totally satisfied. I find that there is a

sufficient factual basis to support the plea. I
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therefore find the pleé to be freely,
voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently made.

Ms. Frayer, I will be happy to hear
from you now as to why I should impose and
accept the negotiated sentence.

MS. FRAYER: Thank you, Your Honor,
may it please the court. Mr. Dennis is a hotdog
vendor,'self—eﬁployed. He usually has his stand
out by the Beer Works on King Street. Pretty
good hotdogs. He is originally from Brooklyn,
New York, moved here in like 1980. He only has
one family member here and that was his aunt,
Ms. Dorothy Brown (phonetic).

We talked about these cases and, like
I said, originally we were.going to go to trial
and everything and -- (pause). You know, I just
want to make sure that people, when they’re
getting sentenced to fifteen years that that is
the minimum that could be sentenced, that this
is really what he wanted to do. Charles Cochran
and I went and saw him just to make sure that’s
what he wanted to do. He told us that on
Thursday, last week. I went back and saw him
Friday. I went back again Sunday, just to be

sure because fifteen years -- as I explained to
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before The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.
him, he is now fifty-one years old, so fifteen
years. So fifteen years to a fifty-one year old
man is different than one who is twenty or
twenty-one, Your Honor.

Your Honor, he is asking you for this
sentence. This is the minimum that was allowed
based on his prior record, the prior ten-year
history that was read. You know, the sentence
éouldn’t be reduced to something less.

THE COURT: Sure.

MS. FRAYER: We appreciate the State
going along with this fifteen year negotiation.
We ask that you sentence him to that today.

Yéur Honor, thank you. That is the best that we
could do.

THE COURT: Thank you, ma’am. Mr.
Dennis, is there anything that you wish to add?

DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor, if you
look at the time that I had in my past, that I
tried somewhat briefly to correct it. But being
that drugs interfered in my life, they hindered
me from doing the things that I needed to do in
life to progress ahead. I just hope that you

will come to some kind of conclusion to get me

some kind of help along the way, along with your
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decision where I can get somé kind of counseling
and be able to come to a program and come out of
the institution béing able to have some kind of
work ethics or some kind of self—sufficiency to
where I would be able to do something positive
entering back into society.

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Dennis, you
understand that it is a nonparoleable offense.
According to my math, eighty-five percent of
fifteen years is twelve-point-seven-five years
(12.75). That means that’s the earliest that
you could be released. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT : (Affirmative nod).

THE COURT: Assuming that you're
successful in being released after 12.75 years,
your lawyer has explained to you that you still
have to satisfactorily complete a two-year
community supervisor program? D; you understand
that? 1It’s basically’/strict probation for two
years. If you’re not successful, you can be
returned in one-year increments for the 2.25
years that you have remaining. Do you
understand that? Do you realize that, sir?

DEFENDANT : Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I hope that -- and I am
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going to recommend ATU while you’re incarcerated
but, to be candid_with you, the financial
situation of this state and other states,
they’ve cut programs. One of the programs that
they seem to cut are programs for the treatment
of people incarcerated, which makes no sense to
me. That being said, doesn’t stop it being --
from happened. But whatever programs you have
available, you ought to take advantage of.

You ought to be a self-starter. You
ought to be looking for them yourself, not
waiting for somebody to order you to do it.

You ought to be saying, ‘What can I get in to
help me?’

You, and a lot of other people, have
been victimized by your own actions of having
addictions. Nobody -- you’d made the decision
at some point in your life to do it. The
consequences that we just talked about
previously, those are there. It shouldn’t come
as any great shock that you have an addiction to
drugs if you’ve used them. That is just the
consequences of using them. It makes no sense,
does it? I mean, realistically?

But none of us think about that kind of
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thing when we’re deciding to do it, do we? 1I've
made those types of decisions for myself.
Fortunately I haven’t -- to my knowledge I don’t
have an addiction to any substance that you have
had, but I am not saying that I couldn’t have
had. I could have easily made the same
mistakes.

I wish you well, sir. The sentence of
the court -- I will accept the recommendation on
each indictment.

On 2011-3961 and 2011-4927, you are to
be committed to the Department of Corrections
for a term of fifteen (15) years. As I stated,
I am going to recommend ATU while you’re
incarcerated. They are concurrent. You are
given credit for time served.

MS. FRAYER: Six hundred and fifty-
five (655) days.

THE COURT: Six Hundred and fifty-
five days of credit on each one. Good luck to
you, sir.

(HEARING CONCLUDED)
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v. g RETURN =
State of South Carolina, )
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The Respondent, making its Return to thé application for post-conviction relief (PCR)

filed January 18, 2013, would respectfully show this Court:
| L

The Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections
pursuant to orders of commitment of the Charleston County Clerk of Court. The Applicant was
indicted at the July 2011 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for burglary-first degree
(2011-GS-10-3961). The Applicant was represented by Cantrell Frayer, Esquire.

On October 15, 2012, the Applicant f)led guilty as indicted. The Applicant was sentenced
by the Honorable R. Markely Dennis to confinement for a period of fifteen (15) years. The
Applicant did not appeal his conviction or sentence. |

- Attached herewith and incorporated herein are the records of the Charleston County
Clerk of Court regarding the subject conviction and the Applicant's records from the South
Carolina Department of Corrections. The Respondent reserves the right to amend this Return

upon receipt of any relevant materials.
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II.
In his Application, the Applicant alleges that he is being held in éustody unlawfully for
the following reasons:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.
2. Violation of due process.
3. Subject matter jurisdiction.

1L
The Applicant alleges he received ineffective assistance of counsel. In a post-conviction
relief action, the Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application.
Butler v. State, 286.5.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Whére the application alleges ineffective
assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so
undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon

as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052,

2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.
The proper measure of perfonnancé is whether the attorney provided representation
within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable

-professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. The Applicant must overcome this

presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).
The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective

assistance of plea counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was

. deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’ s performance by its "reasonableness

~ under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a

2



reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding
would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to
guilty plea counsel, the Applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.
Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed. 2d 203 (1985).

The Respondent submits that the Applicant cannot satisfy either requirement of the
Strickland test. However, the allegation of ineffective assistan;:e of counsel probably raises
questions of fact that the record does not conclusively refute. Accordingly, the Respondent
requests an evidentiary hearing to fully resolve this issue. See Sharper v. State, 279 S.C. 264,
305 S.E.2d 247 (1983). |

IvV.

The Respondent construes the Applicant’s second clairﬁ as an al.legation of infringement
upon the Applicant’s constitutional rights. However, the Applicant does not explain with any
specificity the éréunds upon which these constitutional violations are based. The Uniform Post-
Conviction Procedure Act requires the Applicant to "specifically set forth the grounds upon
which the application is baseci." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-50 (1985).

Before the Court will hold an evidentiary hearing, the Applicant must make a prima facie
showing that he is entitled to. relief. Welch v. MacDougall, 246 S.C. 258, 143 S.E.2d 455
(1965); Blandshaw v. State, 245 S.C. 385, 140 S.E.2d 784 (19655. This allegation is so vague
that it is impossible for the State to respond. Since the Applicant has not made the minimum
prima facie showing, the Court should summarily dismiss this ground for failure to comply with

the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act.
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V.
Lastly, the Applicant alleges the court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over his
charges. An Applicant may chzllllenge the éubject matter jurisdiction of the trial court and such a
claim is one that may be raised at any time. See Brown v. State, 343 S.C. 342, 540 S.E2d 846
(2001), overruled in part by Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). However, “[clircuit courts
obviously have subject matter jurisdiction to try criminal matters.” Gentry, 363 S.C. 93; See also
S.C. Const. Art. V, § 7. Thus, the Applicant must present evidence thai his case is of some class
over which the circuit court does not have the authority to preside. The Applicant’s conviction
involved a criminal charge in General Sessions Court. Thus, the ciréuit court had sﬁbject matter
jurisdiction. The Respondent submits the Applicant has failed to present any evidence that the
convictions he challenges in this application are in a class over which the circuif court doeé not
have the authority to provide. Therefore, the Respondént requests that - this allegation be
summari.ly dismissed.
VL
Each and every allegafion contained within the application not herein before either
expressly admitted, qualified or explained is hereby denied.
VIL
WHEREFORE, having made its Return, the State requests that an evidentiary hearing be

held.

[Signature on the following page.]
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Respectfully submitted,
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Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON
Assistant Attorney General

o At A

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
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. STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

) . : .
_ ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON )
)
) 2013-CP-10-0359
)
TYRONE DENNIS, #199175 )
. ' )
/ : )
Applicant, ) _ (a =
) - LoF 2
vs ) AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICEBYMSL & -
. ) , o X =
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, ) =% = ﬁm
. ) s - a
Respondent. ) ' 03';},- & ‘@
» ) 2z =
28 %
1. Fam an employee of the Respondent in the abovecaptioned action.
2. Regular communicationby mail exists throughouit the State of South Carolinaand that this isa propei'
circumstance of service by mail. '
3. I'have this day served a copy of the Return in the above-captioned matter on the following person by

depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid:

William L. Runyon, Jr. :
#3 Gamecock Avenue, Ste303
Charleston, SC 29407

DATED this 1st day of November, 2013 '

ﬁ el Herky—
Anne R, Henley, Legaz/jksistant
For Respondent
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1
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON ) NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
TYRONE DENNIS, ) TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD
APPLICANT, ) 2013-CP-10-0359
V. )

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, )

RESPONDENT. )

JANUARY 14, 2014
CHARLESTON, SOUTH CAROLINA

BEFORE:

THE HONORABLE KRISTI LEA HARRINGTON, JUDGE

APPEARANCE S:
WILLIAM L. RUNYON, JR., ESQUIRE

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPLICANT

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON, ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

ATTORNEY FOR THE STATE

SHARON L. VIZER

CIRCUIT COURT REPORTER
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Tuesday, January 14, 2014

THE COURT: Sir, if you'd state your full name for
the record.

THE APPLICANT: Tyrone Dennis.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Dennis, is Mr. Runyon
your attorney?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, he is.

THE COURT: And do you need any additional time to
meet with him before we get started here today?

THE APPLICANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You ready to go forward on your PCR
application?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: And let's swear Mr. Dennis.

TYRONE DENNIS, after having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

THE COURT: So as I understand it you were -- you
pled guilty to a burglary first; is that correct?

THE APPLICANT: No.

THE COURT: No. What did you plead guilty to?

THE APPLICANT: To second degree burglary.

THE COURT: You pled guilty to second degree
burglary. And what was youf sentence that you received?

THE APPLICANT: Fifteen years.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Runyon, what was the plea to?




32

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

MR. RUNYON: Judge, the sentencing sheet and I

think the transcript will confirm that Mr. Dennis pled

guilty to burglary first. He maintains that the deal was

a plea to burglary second with a 15-year sentence.
That's his position, which we respectfully submit for the
consideration of the Court.

THE COURT: All right. The sentencing sheet
clearly indicates burglary first. The transcript
indicates that he pled to burglary first, correct?

MR. RUNYON: That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: But your potion is that your client
understood, even though he signed the sentencing sheet
and went through the plea colloquy with Judge Dennis,
that he believes he pled to burglary in the second?

MR. RUNYON: That's Mr. Dennis's posiﬁion, Judge.

THE COURT: All right. And‘éo, Mr. Dennis, you
understand that on a burglary first degree you could be

sentenced the minimum mandatory, is 15 years up to a life

.sentence; you understand that's the potential?

THE APPLICANT: My understanding was, during my
research by being in the county jail for 600 and some odd
days, I could have got a life sentence on a first degree
burglary.

THE COURT: All right. - So you agree with me?

THE APPLICANT: Yes.
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5

THE COURT: Yes. And you understand that you pled
guilty and all my documentation indicates that you pled
guilty to a burglary in the first degree, but I
understand it's your position that you thought you were
pleading to a burglary in the second degree. But
regardless, you really received the same number of years,
15.

THE APPLICANT: Exactly.

THE COURT: All right. I believe that -- was this
a negotiated sentence? Was it negotiated?

MS. WILSON: I believe so. The sentence was
negotiated.

MR. RUNYON: It's not reflected in the sentencing
sheet, Judge, but it appears that it was a negotiated
sentence based on my research.

THE COURT: The sentencing sheet is checked that
it's negotiated.

All right. Mr. Dennis, you understand that
regardless if I grant your application, if T give you
what you want here today do you understand what's going
to happen to you, in the future to you? The charge
doesn't go away. It comes back here. 1It's a Charleston
County charge. It comes back here as a burglary in the
first and you'll be facing the potential of a life

sentence; do you understand that, sir?
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THE APPLICANT; »Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And I understahd there was some
discussion, there was a burg first that was sentenced the
same day. What happened on the other burglary in the
first degree?

&S. WILSON: He also got 15 years on that.

THE COURT: So it was a concurrent sentence?

MS. WILSON: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. RUNYON: It wasn't doubled up, Judge. It was
15 years -- |

THE COURT: Concurrent.

MR. RUNYON: -- concurrent.

THE COURT: Was that part of the negotiation? Was
that part of the negotiation, Ms. Frayer?

MS. FRAYER: Yes, Your Honor, and the property
crime was nolle prossed.

THE COURT: All right. So again, my understanding
is you would be facing then if I grant your PCR, this
could expose you to a potential of two life sentences; is
that correct, Mr. Runyon?

MR. RUNYON: That's correct.

THE COURT: Or are we just here on one?

MR. RUNYON: He's here on one. You; Honor, for the
Court's edification, just so the Court is aware of the

fact that I think -- I understand where I stand.
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Assuming for the sake of argument that Mr. Dennis would
be entitled to ;elief on one thinking that he was
pleading to a second instead of a first he pled to
another first, they run concurrent, the treatment of him
under classification in the prison system would be the
same because of the second burglary first 15 years; and
therefore, we might be arguing about a moot question here
for the purpose of sentencing, and I recognize that fact,
for the record.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. RUNYON: My client doesn't, but I recognize
that fact, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay. I just want Mr. Dennis to
understand that this could be the best that -- the best
position he is right now because sometimes when we send
them back, if he gets what he wants, if I grant his
request then he is going to be exposed to more time.

MR. RUNYON: Absolutely, Judge. I understand that.

THE COURT: You understand that, Mr. Dennis?

MR. RUNYON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Be careful what you ask for
sometimes. That's what we are doing here. Are you ready
to go forward on this post-conviction relief?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: All right. And, Mr. Runyon, the
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grounds are ineffective assistance of counsel; thaé you
failed to ﬁake applicant aware thét he could appeal his
sentence; are those still the grounds you are going
forward on?

MR. RUNYON: That would be his -- that would be
essentially his -- those two grounds.

THE COURT: All right. And then, again, the other

.issue is the plea was to -- he understood it was a

burglary second non violen; plea, not a burg first?

MR. RUNYON: That's correct. Although, Your Honor,
for the sake of brevity and clarification of the record,
you know, as far as the appeéi issue is concerned even if
the Court hears testimony that\would lead the Court to
conclude that he might be subject to relief under Austin,
which'doeén't require the Court to send it back so...

THE COURT: 1Is the State ready to proceed on those
two issues?

MS. WILSON: Yes, Your Honor. The State ready to
proceed.

THE COURT: All right. Call your first witness.

MR. RUNYON: Mr.'Dennis, come around. You've

already been sworn, Mr. Dennis. Come around.

TYRONE DENNIS, after having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

THE CLERK: Give us your full name and spell your
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TYRONE DENNIS - DIRECT BY MR. RUNYON 9

last, please.

MR. RUNYON: Now, Mr. Dennis --

THE COURT: Hold on one second.

State your full name and spell your last name.

THE WITNESS: Tyrone Dennis. Last name
D-e-n-n-i-s.

THE COURT: All right. Now, Mr. Runyon. Thank
you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. RUNYON:

Q. Mr. Dennis, how old are you, sir?

A. I'm 43 -- 53.

Q. And how far did you go in school?

A. To the 12th.

Q. And where did you go to school?

A. Saint South, Brooklyn, New York.

Q. So you finished at a Catholic school in the City of

‘New York?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And you can read, write and understand the English
language?

A. Yes, 1 can.

Q. Now, let's just cut right to the chase. You pled

guilty to essentially two burglaries; did you not, sir?

A. I pled guilty with the understanding that I was
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TYRONE DENNIS - DIRECT BY MR. RUNYON 10

pleading to second degree burglary.

Q. Now, you understand that you did -- at the time of
the hearing, did you -- at the time of your plea did you
sign sentencing sheets?

A. I signed paperwork that came to me, rushed to me,
with the underétanding thaf the pléa agréement for second
degree burglary was already established.

Q. All right. Now, I want to show you what is part of
the record, the sentencing sheet that purports to be a
plea to burglary first degree. Did you, in fact, sign

this sentencing sheet?

A. That sentencing sheet was rushed to me, briefly,
yes. ’
Q. That's not my question. Did you sign that,

Mr. Dennis?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. And was the essence of your plea agreement

that you understood that you would receive 15 years?

A. Yes.
Q. And was the essence of the plea agreement that you
would have one of your sentences -- one of your charges

would be nolle prossed, correct?

A. No.

Q. You didn't have a property crime enhancement that

was to be dismissed?
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TYRONE DENNIS - DIRECT BY MR. RUNYON 11

A. Property crime enhancement didn't having nothing to
do with the first degree burglary -- the two first degree
burglaries that I had.

Q. Okay. You had two first degree burglaries, and
it's your contention that one of them was to be a second?
A. I was supposed to plead to a second degree
burglary. The plea was going to be dropped from first
degree burglary to second degree burglary, second degree
burglary with 15 years.

Q. Now, do you recall appearing in court before Judge
Dennis, I believe it is?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you have a conversation with Judge Dennis

when he asked you about your plea?

A. Yes.
Q. Did you understand what he was asking you about?
A. Yes.
Q. Did he explain to you what you were pleading to?

Do you recall if he explained to you what you were

pleading to?

A. To a burglary.
Q. He didn't say burglary first degree?
A. No.

And he didn't say burglary second degree?

N o

The negotiated plea was already established, so he



40

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

- 22

23
24

25

TYRONE DENNIS - DIRECT BY MR. RUNYON

alreédy knew that I was pleadinq to a second degree
burglary.

Q. Okay. So as far as the matter goes, whatever the
Judge talked to you about would be reflected in the
transcript, correct?

A. Yes. |
Q. And you understand you are kind of bound by what
the transcript says; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, once you had -- strike that. Let's go back.

Who represented you in this matter?

A, Ms. Cantrell.

0. Okay. Is she in the courtroom today?

A. She is.

Q. All right. ©Now, upon the case being over with did

you have any conversation with her about an appeal?

A. Yes.
Q. Did she advise you you had a right to appeal?
A. Yes.

Q. And did you desire to appeal, at the time she
discussed it with you? |

A. Neo. 1I was rushed out.

0. Okay. And when did you finally decide that you
thought you might want to appeal your sentence? Was it

after two weeks of finding paperwork you said that didn't
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TYRONE DENNIS - CROSS BY MS. WILSON 13

~- you didn't agree with?
A. After I went to R and E and got my process
situation going through up in there they told me that I
received a 15 years for a first degree burglary, and they
gave me a sentencing sheet a month later. I looked at
the sentence sheet and once I realized that it was a
first degree burglary that I pleaded to and I looked at
the sentencing sheet that I had in 1998 for the same
charge of burglary and I received a 15 years for that.
Q. And that was more than 10 days after the court
wherein you entered a plea; isn't that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And so it's your contention that the sentencing
sheets are in error that you signed?
A. Yes.

MR. RUNYON: No further questions of this witness,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Wilson?

MS. WILSON: Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MS. WILSON:

Q. Mr. Dennis, do you recall how many times you met
with Ms. Frayer before you pled guilty?

A. About three or four.

Q. Did you correspond with her via phone or mail? Did
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TYRONE DENNIS — CROSS BY MS. WILSON 14
you write back and forth or talk’to her on the phone?
A. Yes.

Q. Did she go over the discovery that she received
from the State with you?

A. Yes.

Q. Did she talk to you about any possible defenses
that you could present at trial?

A. Say that --

Q. Did she talk to you about the strategy that she
could present if you all went to trial?

A. Yes.

Q. What type of evidence you would challenge?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you give her any witnesses or people to the
investigate?

A. No.

Q. Was it your decision to plead guilty?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you tell the plea court that you were
actually guilty?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you agree with the facts presented by thg State

during your plea proceeding?

A. No. ‘

Q. Do you remember the Court talking to you about
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TYRONE DENNIS - CROSS BY MS. WILSON 15

waiving your constitutional rights, such as your right to
a jury tFial, right to the remain silent and your right
to confront --
A. Yes.
Q. -- witnesses? That was a yes?

Did you tell the Court that you were satisfied with
your attorney?
A. Did I tell Court that? Yes.
Q. Do you recall at the start of your guilty plea
proceeding the Court saying that you were indicted for
two counts of burglary first degree?
A. Yes.
Q. And you testified today that you did indeed sign
the sentencing sheet?
A. Yes.
Q. And after the Court stated that you were indicted
for burglary first degree did you ever indicate to the
Court that you were actually pleading to burglary second
degree throughout your guilty plea proceeding?
A. Once the plea was already negotiated they rushed me
out of the courtroom. I didn't have a chance to talk to
nobody. I didn't receive no sentencing sheet in the
courtroom. The sentencing sheet came to me 30 days after
I done pled.

Q. But you spoke to the Court during the proceeding;
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TYRONE DENNIS - REDIRECT BY MR. RUNYON 16

is that correct?
A. Briefly.
Q. Well, you answered the questions the Court asked of
you, right?
A. Yes.
Q. And it's your testimony today that when you
initially spoke with Ms. Frayer about an appeal you told
her you didn't want an appeal?
A. Yes.

MS. WILSON: Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Runyon?

MR. RUNYON: Just.briefly.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. RUNYON:
Q. And as it relates to the appeal and your decision
to request an appeal was that some two or three weeks
later after you were in R and E?
A, Yes.
MR. RUNYON: No further questions, Your Honor.
MS. WILSON: Nothing further from the State.
THE COURT: You may step down.
MR. RUNYON: Come down, Mr. Dennis.
THE COURT: Mr. Runyon, call your next witness.
MR. RUNYON: No other testimony, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. Any motions or
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CANTRELL M. FRAYER - DIRECT BY MS. WILSON 17

matters, Mr. Runyon?

MR. RUNYON: Not at this time, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Wilson?

MS. WILSON: Thank you, Your Honor. The State
would call Ms. Cantrell Frayer.

CANTRELL FRAYER, after having been duly

sworn, testified as follows:

THE CLERK: Please give us your full name and spell
you last, please. .
THE WITNESS: Cantrell Murray Frayer. Frayer, F as

in Frank, r-a-y-e-r.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. WILSON:

Q. Morning, Ms. Frayer.

A. Good morning.

Q. How long have you been practicing law?

A. Since 2001.

Q. And has a good bit of that been doing criminal law?
A. Yes, about eight years of that time.

Q. And do you recall when you were appointed to

represent Mr. Dennis?

A. Yes, in October of 2010.

Q. And do you recall how many times you met with him
before he pled guilty?

A. Before he pled guilty? This case was actually set
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for a trial so we were on the trial docket. He did not
decide to plead guilty until the'Thursdayvbefore the
trial. So I met with him that Thursday, that Friday,
that Saturday and that Sunday, so four days, and then
went down to the lockup that Monday morning to have him

sign the sentencing sheets.

Q. Did you file any Brady or Rule 5 motions on his
behalf?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And the documents that you received, did you go

over that with him?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Prior to trial did you talk to him about the
elements of the charges he was facing and what the State

had to prove?

A. Yes, we did.

Q. Did he tell you his version of the facts?

A. Yes.

0. And did you talk to with him about possible
defenses?

A. Of course, yes.

Q. And were there any viable defenses to present at
trial?

A, Not really but we were'going to -- if he wanted a

trial we always gave our best effort to fight for our
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CANTRELL M. FRAYER - DIRECT BY MS. WILSON 19

client until the end so...

Q. Can you briefly characterize the State's evidence
against Mr. Dennis.

A. The State -- in one of the cases the State had a
video from a business across the street. That was the
December 30th 2010 -- no, that was -- I'm sorry. That
was the January 7th, 2011 burglary. Then the other they
had fingerprints on the television in that home.

Q. Did they have any -- did he give any statements to

police or anything of that nature to incriminate himself?

A. No.

0. Did he give you any potential witnesses or leads to
investigate?

A. No, he didn't.

Q. What type of investigation did you have to do in

this case?

A. My investigator contacted his employer. He was a
hotdog cart vender, so we just wanted to verify his
location, where he may have met some of the people that
may have been involved in the incidents with the video in
that home. He said that he met them -- I don't know how
much information I can tell.

Q. Well, you can tell whatever you feel comfortable.
Attorney-client privilege is waived in post-conviction

relief.
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A. Okay. He indicated that he had met them while
working so we just wanted to verify the location where
his hotdog cart may héve been that evening, verify that
he was employed as a hotdog vender. So we contacted his
employer just to verify stuff like that, that he would
have been there that night because it was an after-hour
hotdog car£ vender.

Q. When did you start. entering into plea negotiations
on Mr. Dennis's behalf?

A. Not until the very end when he indicated that he

wanted to plea because the State had indicated from the

‘beginning that they would not reduce his charge. They

weren't willing to negotiate because of his record.
They -- the solicitor indicated, no, they would not
reduce the charge.

Once the case was on the trial docket they were not
willing to reduce the charge. We asked them, we said,
Hey, he's willing to - Mr. Dennis has indicated that he
wants to plea.' What will you do?

They said the best we can do is just do a
negotiated 15 years.

| So I went back to Mr. Dennis and said the State,

the best they can do is a negotiated 15 years. And so

Mr. Dennis accepted that offer, and that was October. I

have it as October the l4th that he would plead to two
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counts of burg first for 15 years concurrent.

Q. Prior to getting this plea offer from the State did
you talk to Mr. Dennis about the fact that the State
wouldn't reduce his charges down?

A. Right. We had talked about that early on in the
case because he had written to me and asked me because of
his age, he'd been in prison before, he didn't want to go
back to prison, what were they willing to do. And at
that time the State had said they wouldn't reduce it, the
best they could do was 20.

And then we said, Well, no, we'll go to trial. 1If
you are going to do 20 we'll just go the trial. That was
what Mr. Dennis had instructed me. So I went back to the
State with that.

Then we got a new solicitor and so I went to that
solicitor and said, Okay, what do you want to do at the
very end when it was on the trial docket? And usually
the policy of the solicitor's office is once it's on the
trial docket they are not going to reduce the actual
charge down. And so that's what the best they could do,
was the 15.

Q. And ultimately you communicated this final offer to
Mr. Dennis; is that correct?
A. Yes. My trial partner, Charles Cochran, and I

communicated it to him because we were already ready for
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trial at that point.

Q. And did you talk to him about the consequences of
pleading guilty?

A. Yes, we did.

Q. Did you talk to him about what constitutional
rights he'd be waiying, such as a right to remain silent,
right to a jury trial, right to confront the witnesses if

he went and pled guilty?

A. Yes. We talked to him about this.

Q. Did he ever indicate to you he didn't understand
something?

A, No. Mr. Dennis was very -- he understood the law,
the whole -- everything about going to prison. He could

tell me what age he would be, what the max out was and
all that.

Q. Okay. Is it your understanding that he knew he was
pleading guilty to burglary first degree?

A, That was my'understanding, he understood. We went
over the sentencing sheet with him. We went over
everything. We knew what it was before we came to court
on Monday because that was what we were told by the
solicitor after Mr. Dennis said that he wanted to pled
guilty instead of gqing to trial.

Q. Do you think it was Mr. Dennis's decision to plead

guilty?



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
| 20
21
22
23
24

25

51

CANTRELL M. FRAYER - DIRECT BY MS. WILSON 23

A, It was absolutely Mr. Dennis's decision to plead
guilty. Mr. Cochran and I were ready for trial.

Q. Did the State ever make any offers for Mr. Dennis
to plead to burglary second?

A, They absolutely did not.

Q. Okay. After Mr. Dennis's guilty plea did you talk

to him about the right to appeal?

A. I did.

Q. And did he indicate he wanted to appeal?

A. No, he didn't.

Q. And after his guilty plea, after he'd been sent off

to prison did he ever call or write to you indicating he
wanted to plea -- I mean, wanted an appeal?

A. He did write to me after he -- after a while he
wrote to me. Basically, he just wrote to me telling me
that I needed to éet it straight, that he would have
never pled to two burg firsts, no one does that, and that
I just needed to get it straight. And that -- it wasn'tA

a nice letter, but I actually did not get that letter

until -- it wasn't written until December the 7th of
2013.
Q. But in that letter he didn't indicate that he

wanted to appeal?
A. No. He just says that this matter needs to be

checked or rechecked. Nothing in there specifically
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about an appeal.

Q. And you didn't receive any other correspondence or
phdne call about that?

A. No. And that -- again, that wasn't until December
the 7th of 2013. | .
Q. Okay. Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. RUNYON:
Q. Let's go back to this one letter that you received
from him. Although it's well settled in the law you have

about 10 days from the entry of the sentence or the

rising in the Court to enter an appeal in this State; is

that not correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did that letter, which didn't even talk about
an appeal, as I underséand it, but if you took that
letter as in getting it straight as indicating that one
of your courses of action might have been to appeal.was
it within the 10 days as prescribed by the statutory law

of the sovereign State of South Carolina?

A. No, it wasn't.
Q. Okay. Now, as it relates to Judge Dennis's
colloquy with Mr. Dennis -- how many times you appear

before Judge Dennis, roughly?

A. About 50.
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Q. Okay. Numerous times?

THE COURT: The entire career, Mr. Runyon?

MR. RUNYON: I beg your pardon?

THE COURT: In her entire career how many times?

MR. RUNYON: Well --

MS. FRAYER: Numerous times.

THE COURT: 1It's more than 50, Ms. Frayer.

MS. FRAYER: Nﬁmerous.

MR. RUNYON: I was excepting her to say numerous
times.

MS. FRAYER: Numerous times.

BY MR. RUNYON:

Q. And I apologize for trying to pin it down to a
number .

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he do anything different in Mr. Dennis's case

than he has done in his usual thorough fashion in other
cases that you appeared before him?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did he ask him -- did he have a colloquy with the
defendant, Mr. Dennis, independent of his discussions
with you about what Mr. Dennis was pleading to?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. All right. And the consequences of those actions?

A. Yes, he did.
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Q. As well as his right to appeal?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And did you agree with Mr. Dennis's decision in

this case?

A. I did.

0. All right. Other than collateral issues, and by
collateral I mean ciassifications in the.prisoh system,

the substance of his plea bargain was to receive 15

years?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Ckay. And we are now understanding that he said he

would take 15 years for burglary second, but as a
practiéal matter is there any difference between 15 years
and 15 years? Fifteen years is 15 years, is it not?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. - All right. Not talking about collaterél issues,

it's the same thing, isn't it?

A. Fifteen years is 15 years.

Q. Same number of days? |

A, Fifteen years.

Q. And he did get credit for the 655 days in which.
he'd been -- had been incarcerated? |

A. Yes, sir. That is checked off. That is written in
heré.

Q. All>right. Thank you.
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MR. RUNYON: No further questions, Your Honor.

MS. WILSON: Nothing further from the State.

THE COURT: You may step down. Thank you.

Call your next witness.

MS. WILSON: No further witnesses. The State
rests.

THE COURT: Any rebuttal?

MR. RUNYON: No rebuttal, Your Honor. We would
have to concede that the record would reflect that the
ground asserted as to the appeal has not been met. I'm
not authorized to stipulate to that, Judge, but I would
have to be candid with the Court and recognize the
statement -- the testimony, and we would submit the
balance of Mr. Dennis's application for the consideration
of the Court.

MS. WILSON: Thank you, Your Honor. The State just
asks that you dismiss this application for
post-conviction relief. With regard to the allegation
about Ms. Frayer's failure to advise the applicant of
right to appeal, the State would submit that he has
failed to carry his burden.

Mr. Frayer provided credible testimony that she not
only discussed with Mr. Dennis his right to appeal but he
indicated to her that he did not want to appeal, and

post-plea in his correspondence with her never indicated



56

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

28

his desire to have an appeal.

With regard.to Mr. Dennis's, I guess allegation
that his plea was involuntary because he thought he was
pleading to second degree burglary, the record is pretty
clear on that, and Judge Dennis adequately édvised him of
all his rights and the consequences of pleading guilty
and the State would just rest on that.

THE COURT: Anything further?

MR. RUNYON: Nothing further from the applicant,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm going to take this matﬁer under
advisement. You will have 10 days'té submit your
proposed orders.

Mr. Dennis, I'm taking this matter under
advisement. I'm going to allow-your attorney and the
State to submit proposed orders, if they wish to do so,
and then I'm going to make a ruling after that. Good
luck to you, sir. Thank you.

MS. WILSON: Thank you.

MR. RUNYON: Thank you, Your Honor.

(WHEREUPON, the hearing was conclude.)
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CERTIFICATE

I, Sharon L. Vizer, Official Court Reporter for the
Ninth Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina, do
hereby certify that the foregoing is a true, accurate and
complete transcript of record of all the proceedings had
and the evidence introduced in the hearing of the
captioned case in Circuit Court on the 14th day of
January 2014.

I do further certify that I am neither of kin, counsel

nor have an interest to any party hereto.

May 23, 2014

Ao AN
* SHARON L. VIZER
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Tyrone Dennis, #199175,
Applicant,
v.
State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Presiding Judge:
Applicant’s Attorney:

Respondent’s Attorney:

Plea Counsel:
Date of Hearing:
Court Reporter:

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS |
2013-CP-10-0359

ORDER OF DISMISSAL:.

The Honorable Kristi L. Harrington
William L. Runyon, Jr., Esquire
Ashleigh R. Wilson, Esquire

Cantrell M. Frayer, Esquire

January 14, 2014

Sharon Vizer

This matter comes before the Court by way of an application for post-conviction relief

(PCR) filed January 18, 2013. The Respondent made its Return on November 1, 2013. An

evidentiafy hearing into the matter was convened on January 14, 2014 at the Chaleston County

Courthouse. .The Applicant was present at the hearing and represented by William L. Runyon,

Jr., Esquire. Ashleigh R. Wilson, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attomey General's Office

represented the Respondent.

The Applicant testified on his own behalf at the PCR hearing. Applicant’s plea counsel,

Cantrell Frayer, Esquire, also testified at the hearing. This Court had before it the guilty plea

transeript, the records of the Charleston County Clerk of Court, the Applicant’s records from the

thereto.

- South Carolina Department of Corrections, the PCR application, and Respondent’s Return
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Applicant is preséntly confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections
pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Charleston County. The Applicant
was indicted at the July 2011 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for two counts of
burglary- first degree (2011-GS-10-3961, -4927). Canuell Frayer, Esquire, represented the
Applicant.‘ The Applicant pled guilty as indicted. On October 15, 2012, the Honorable R.
Markley Dennis sentenced the Applicant to confinement for fifteen years- the minimum sentence
on both counts. The sentences were to run concurrently. The Applicant did not appeal the plea
or sentence.

ALLEGATIONS

The Applicant alleged in his application he is being held in custody unlawfully for the
following reasons:
1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.
2. Violation of due process.
3. Subject matter jurisdiction.

At the hearing, the Applicant waived all grounds for relief except ineffective assistance of

counsel for counsel's failure to file an appeal and involuntary guilty plea.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This Court has had the opportunity 10 reﬁew the record in its entirety and has heard the
testimony and arguments presented at the PCR hearing. This Court has further had the
opportunity to observe each witness who testified at the hearing, and to closely pass upon his or
her credibility. This Court has weighed the testimony according;l)'. Set forth below are the

relevant findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80
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(2003).

The Applicant testified he met with counsel three or four times prior to his guilty plea. He
testified they spoke on the phone and corresponded by mail. He testified he reviewed the
discovery material with counscl. The Applicant also testified he discussed possible defenses with
counsel and did not give her any leads or witnesses to investigate. He testified further it was his
decision to plead guilty, he recalled waiving his constitutional rights and told the Court he was |
satisfied with his aitorney. |

The Applicant testified he pled guilty with the understanding that he was pleading guilty
to burglary- second degree. He testified he signed the sentencing sheet and understood the plea
offer was for fiftcen years. The Applicant testified he recalled the plea Court saying be was
indicted for burglary-first degree. He testified he believed the plea offer from the State dropped
his charge to burglary- second degree. He testified the plea court told him he was pleading to
burglary and the plea offer was already established.

The Applicant testified he spoke with Cantrell about an appeal. He testified Cantrell told
him he bad a right to appeal. He testified he never told Cantrell he wanted an appeal. The
Applicant testified he decided to request an appeal two to three weeks after his guilty plea.

Plea counsel, Cantrell Frayer, Esquire, testified she has practiced criminal law for the last
eight years. She testified she was appointed to represent the Applicant in October 2010. She
testified she met with the Applicant several days prior to the Applicant’s guilty plea which was
originally on the trial docket. Counse] testified she filed Brady and Rule 5 motions on the
Applicant’s behalf. She testified she reviewed the discovery rna.teﬁal with the Applicant. Counsel
testified she discussed with the Applicant -hls version of the facts, possible defenses, and the

elements of the charge he was facing and what the State had to prove. She testified the Applicant
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had no viable defenses.

Counsel testified the Applicant did not want to plead guilty until shortly before trial. She
testified based on the Applicant’s record the State would not agree to reduce the Applicant’s
charges. Counsc! testificd she discussed the State's inability to reduce the charges with the
Applicant and there was never an offer from the State to plea to burglary- second degree. She
testified the State ultimately made a fifteen year plea offer to burglary- first degree and the
Applicant accepted the offer.

Counsel testified she communicated the plea over to the Applicant along with her trial
partner. She testiﬁe& she informed the Applicant of the consequences of his guilty plea and of bis
constitutional rights. She testified the Applicant never indicated he did not understand anythiog
and knew he wes pleading guilty to two counts of burglary-first degree. She testified further she
reviewed the sentencing sheet with the Applicant prior to the guilty plea, Counsel testified it was
the Applicant’s decision to plead guilty.

Lastly, counse! testified she advised the Applicant of his right to appeal his guilty plea
and he never indicated he wanted an appeal. She testified the Applicant wrote her a letter after
his guilty plea, but the letter did not indicate he wanted an appeal. She testified the letter was not
received within ten days of the guilty plea and she received no other correspondence from the
Applicant requesting an appeal.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The Applicant alleges that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. As an initial
matter, this Court finds credible the testimony of Cantrell Frayer, Esquire and finds the testimony
of the Applicant was not credible. In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant has the burdén

of proving the allegations in the application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C.
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441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for
relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of
the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced =& just result.”
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation

~ within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasohable
professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. The applicant must overcome this
presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State. 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test to evajuatev allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel.
First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong,
attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” 1d. at 117,
386 S.B.24 at 625 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. 668). Second, counsel’s deficient performance
must have prejudiced the applicant‘such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. A
reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the
trial. Johnson v, State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 SE.2d 733 (1997). When there has been a guilty ples,
the applicant must prove that counsel’s representation was below the standard of reasonableness
and that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would
not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart 474 U.S, 52, 58-
59 (1985); Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16,20, 546 S E2d 417, 419 (2001).

To be-lcnowing and voluntary, a plea must‘ be entered with a full m&emtanding of the

charges and the consequences of the plea. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-44 (1969);
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Dover v, State, 304 S.C. 433, 434, 405 S.E.2d'391, 392 (1991). When determining issues
relating to guilty pleas, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the
guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. Anderson v, State,
342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 657 (2000) (citing Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d
360 (1984)). When a defendant pleads guilly on the advice of counsel, the plea may only be
attacked through a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20,
546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2002) (citations omitted).

This Court finds that counse] is & criminal practitioner who has extensive experience in
the trial of serous offenses. Counsel conferred with the Applicant on numerous occasions.
During conferences with the Applicant, counse} discussed the pending charges, the elements of
the charges and what the State was required to prove, Applicant’s constitutional rights,
Applicant’s version of the facts, and possible defenses or lack thereof. The record reflects that
Applicant’s plea was entered freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Applicant
acknowledged that he was guilty of these offenses. Applicant told the plea court that he was

satisfied with his attorney and that no one had threatened him ot promised him anything to plead

" guilty. This Court finds that Applicant understood the consequences of his guilty plea.

Regarding the Applicant’s claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court finds the
Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proof. This Court finds that Applicant's attorney
demonstrated the normal degree of skill, knowledge, professional judgment, and representation
that ere expected of en attomey who practices criminel law in South Carolina. State v.
Pendergrass, 270 S.C. 1,239 S.E.2d 750 (1977); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668; Butler, 286 S.C.
441, 334 S.E.2d 813. This Court further finds counsel adequately conferred with the Applicant,

conducted a proper investigation, and provided thoroughly representation. This Court finds that
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counsel’s representation did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness.

This Court finds that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to file an appeal of the
Applicant’s guilty plea. The United States Supreme Court has rejected a “bright-line rule that
counsel must always consult with the defendant regarding an appeal.” Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528
U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). They instead beld that “counsel
has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is
reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because
there aré nonfrivolous groﬁnds for appeal), or (2) that this ﬁax"ticular defendant reasonably
demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” Id, “[A)lthough not determinative,
a highly relevant factor in this inquiry will be whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty
plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of potentially appealable issues and because
such a plea may indicaie that the defendant seeks an end to judicial proceedings.” Ld_,'

This Court finds that this allegation is without merit and the Applicant has failed to carry

his burden of proving counsel failed to file an appeal on his behalf,’ This Court finds that counsel

gave credible testimony that she conferred with the Ap;;licam about bis right to appeal. This
Court also finds that trial counsel gave credible testimony that after consulting with the
Applicant about his right to a{:pea.l, he never indicated he wanted to pursue an appeal. This Court
also finds telling the Applicant’s testimony that he never told counsel that he wanted to appeal
his guilty plea. This Court finds that there is no evidence that a rational defendant would want to
appeal or that the Applicaut‘indicated he wanted to appeal.

This Court also finds that the Applicant’s guilty plea was freely and voluntarily entered.

This Court finds the Applicant was fully aware that he was pleading guilty to burglary- first

! At the conclusion of the evideatlary héaring, the Applicant ¢ ed ibai iestimony presented did not support &
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel’s fajlure c an & 1 .
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degree and not burglary- second degree, This Court finds credible counsel’s testimony that she
discussed with the Applicant the State’s decision not to allow the Applicant to plead guilty to a
lesser offense based on his prior record. This Court also finds and the record reflects the
Applicant was adviscd by the Court at the start of the plea proceeding that he was pleading guilty
to two counts of burglary-first degree and the Applicant told the Court he understood (T. 2:3-8).
This Court also notes the Applicant signed the sentencing sheet which indicatcs-he was entering
a plea to burglary- first degree.

The record also reflects the Applicant’s guilty plea was entered freely and voluntarily and
the Applicant was fully advised of the consequences of his guilty plea. The Applicant was
advised of the potential sentence he was facing (T. 3:5-8), his right to a jury trial (T. 7:12-17}, his
right to remain silent (T. 7:18-21), and his right to confront his accusers (T. 7:12-17). The
Applicant told the Court he wished o plead guilty and that he was actually guilty. (T. 4:15-20,
8:5-7). The Applicant also told the Court he had not been promised anything or threatened to
plead guilty. (T. 7:22-8:4). The App[icent told the Court he was not under the influence of drugs
or alcohol and did not suffer from any mental iliness. (T.4:24-5:9). This Court finds and the
record reflects the Applicant was fully aware of the consequences of his guilty plea and the
waiver of his constitutional rights. This Court finds that this allegation is without merit and the
Applicant has failed to carry his burden of proving his guilty plea was involuntary.

Accordingly, this Court finds the Applicant has failed to prove the first prong of the
Strickland test, specifically that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under
prevailing professional norms. The Applicant failed to present specific and compelling evidence
that counsel committed either errors or omissions while representing the Applicant. The

Applicant failed to show that counsel’s performance was deficient. Therefore, this Court need
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not address prejudice. Applicant’s complaints concerning counsel’s performance are without

ﬁerit and are denied and dis:ﬁissed.
All Other Allegations

As to any and all allegations that were raised in the application or at the hearing in this
matter and not specifically addressed in this Order, this Court finds the Applicant failed to
present any testimony or argument regarding such al]egaﬁons. Accordingly, this Court finds the
Applicant waived such allegations. Therefore, they are hereby denied and dismissed. |

CONCLUSION ,

Based on all the foregoing, this Court finds and concludes the Applicant has not

&stablished.a.ny constitutional violations or deprivations before or during his guilty plea and

sentencing proceedings. .Counsel was not deficient in any manner, nor was the Applicant

prejudiced by counsel’s representation. Therefore, this application for PCR must be denied and .

dismissed with prejudice.

This Court advises the Applicant that he must file a notice of intent to appeal within thirty
(30) days from the receipt of written notice of entry of this Order to secure appropriate appellate
review. His attention is also directed to Rules 203, 206, and 243 of the South Carolina Appellate
Court Rules for the approprigte procedures to follow after notice of intent to appeal has been

timely served and filed.
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[Signature on the following page.}
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED:

1. That the application for post-conviction relief be denied and
dismissed with prejudice; and

2. That the Applicant be remanded to the cystady of the Respondent.

AND IT IS 5O ORDERED this a 8 Qey of é&é)ﬁﬁ.ﬁoﬁ[

Presiding Judge
9th Judicial Circuit

uth Carolina.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA AFFIDAVIT
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Personaily appeared before me, a magistrate of this county, one, Inv. Y.
Brown, first being duly sworn, deposes and says that the Defendant Tyrone Dennis.
did within this County and State on December 24, 2010 between 0658 hrs and
0703hrs violate the criminal laws of the State of South Carolina in the following

particulars;
DESCRIPTION OF OFFENSE

BURGLARY FIRST DEGREE
16-11-311

The affiant states that there is pi'obable cause to believe that the def'endant name‘d

_above did commit.the crime(s) set forth and.that such probable cause is based on the,

following facts:

That on December 24, 2010 between 0658 hrs and 0703 hrs, while at
549 King St. Apt A located in the City and County of Charleston, South

' Carolina, the defendant, Tyrone Dennis, did willingly, knowingly, and \

unlawfully violate Section 16-11-311, Burglary First Degree in the
following manner:

The defendant did during the aforementioned night time hours enter
the residence of the Victim, Guy Yates, located a#Apt A
Charleston, SC by entering the unsecured french door near the open balcony
area. Once inside the residence, the Defendant did steal one white Apple
Macbook laptop with a black bottom covering attached (approximate value

$600.00). The Victim does not know the Defendant and at no time did the
Victim give the Defendant permission to enter his residence nor take his

property. The listed sunrise time on December 24, 2010 is 0717 hrs.

These facts are true and believable based on the statements of the
Victim, Guy Yates, the investigations of Inv. Y. Brown of the Charleston
Police Department and the recovered video surveillance from the adjoiriing
business.

Sworn to and Subscribed before me
tlus day of M 200,
(L.S.) }

Sig t re ot' dge

Co pl mt# o 1721

Form 157A



SAV20110100027 oockeTno. 2011GS1003961 1

WITNESSES
Yolanda Brown The State of South Carolina
Charleston City Police Department County of Charleston

AGENCY CASE NUMBER COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS 8/42011 2:42-14 PM
1021721 Julv T 2011 JULIE J. ARMSTRONG

uly ferm CLERK OF COURT
ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
K404222
- THE STATE
DATE OF ARREST :

vs.

December 30, 2010

TYRON \
ACTION (')F GRAND JURY . DOB“

.
Q &= . £
_?rcper.\on ofGrundJur; JuL 12 201 % Indictment for
ulc, 1% 2
S L g
VERDICT H % Burglary First Degree
s MR i e
Foreperson of Petit Jury Date: -
INDICT

ATTEST' ATRUE COPY
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ' - INDICTMENT

)
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON )

At a Court of General Sessions., convened on July 11,2011 the Grand Jurers of Charleston County prescnt
upon their oath; K

Burglary First Degree

That in Charleston County, South Carolina, on or about December 24, 2010, the Defendant TYRONE DENNIS, did
enter the dwelling of Guy Yates, located at-\'ilhoul consent and with the intent to commit a crime
therein. That, in addition, did enter the dwelling during the right time hours: in viclation of Section 16-11-3t1 ofthe

South Carofina Code of Laws (1976) 25 amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State. and contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.

LE SAVAGE

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR

ATTEST: ATRUE COPY
JULIE J. ARMSTRONG éS
C.P, L.
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SIAIR UF SUVUIHI LARULINA

COUNTY OF Charleston

STATE VS. INDICTMENT/CASES: 2011GS1003961
Tyrane Dennis AWE: _K404222

AKA: Date of OTense: _12/30/2010

Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: S0 SC.Code § : 16-11-0311

DOB; S#
Address:

City,State,Zip: LEST
ous: SIDA: %

CDR Code #; __ 0079

N O A R

SENTENCE SHEET
*CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[T] Hazmat Yes[] WNo[]
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was (O CONVICTEDOF or X)PLEADS
TO: Burglary, It degree
inviolationof § 16-11-0311 . of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code # 0079
2] NON-VIOLENT VIOLENT [JSERIOUS [RJMOST SERIOUS  [TJMandatory.GPS(CSC [g§17-2545
wiminor 1st ot Lewd Act)

The charge is: As Indicted, [TJLesser Included Offense,  [JDefendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)
Thepieais:  [JWithout Negotiations or Recomumendation, (] Negotiated Sente O ommepgation by the State,
AWT:%@ FHE3 éz! d , WVZ

Stoney, Randel SC Bartl Defendant ttorney for Defendan SC Bartf
WHEREFORE, the Defendan? is commited to the B@!e Department of Correctlons, [] County Detention Center,
for a determinate term of i 5 daye/memty @ O underthe Youtbful Offeader Act not to exceed . years
and/or to pay a fine of § ; provide that upon the service of ' days/monthsfyears end/or payment -
of § : plus costs and assessments as applicablie®; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporuted by reference.
ONCURRENT or [0 CONSECUTIVE to semence on:

“The Defendant is to be given credit for ume serve uam 10S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated end applied
by the State Deparument of Corrections.

[0 The Defendant is to be placed on the Cemral Reglstry ] |ld Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C, Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it ls unlawfal for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestle Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or recelve 8 firearm or ammunition,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
(JRESTITUTION: [ Deferred [] Del Walves Hearlng Oordered  pTUP
Toal: §___ plus20%fec: s dayshours Public Servics Employment
Payment Terms: Obwin GED [
[ Setby SCDPPPS Atiend Voc. Rehab. or Job Carp.
- May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Subsiance Abuse Counseling O
Fine: $ Random Drug/AlcohoI testing
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
8 14-1-231(AX1) (Conv. Surcherge) $10 "$ |1oD.n _pmts. of § beginning
14-1-21){A}{2) (DU! Surcharge) $100 [ $ . Defender Fund
§ 56-5-2998 (DUI Assessment) $12 s N X7 paid to Fublic X
§ 36-1-286 (DU! Breath Test) $15 § er:
Proviso 47.9 (Public DefProb) $500 S M orale
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $23 S 5o AL
§ 14-1-21) (Drug Coun Surcharge) $150 [3
§ 30-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) 50§
§ 56-3-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/eca  § (Q Appsinted PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $s S = o0 § 47.12 requises $500 be paid to Clerk
3% to County  (if paid in instaliments) $ 2.9 during probation.
TOTAL 3 |3‘5-°\0 QEQ Eg
Presiding Judge
Clerk of Courv/ Deputy Clerk \,.)-R&:_..D \"“ © 'A*M-J Judge Code:
Coun Reponter: QA —"'( axvigo— Sentence Date:
SCCAN1? (03/2011)
A‘T‘TEST" ATRUE COPY
JULIE . .
By /

DEPUTY CLERK
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. SSALE UP 3UVLA LARULINA ' ) uv un.uuu'r GLNEKAL JESIHUTD
. COUNTYOP _ Chateston )
STATB Vs ) INDICTMENT/CASE#: __.2011GS1004927
— Tyrone Dennls )  AWE _K634611'
, AKA: )  DateofOfftnse: 122011
Rece: BLACK Sex: M Age: 50 ) SCCode §:_ t611:0311
i 1 DOB: S8#: ) CDRCode#d: _ 0079
© | Addregx: )
: | oS Ol 3 ) SENTENCE SHEET
~cm.mg No[J CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmmat Yes[ No[]
In disposhion of the said indictrnent comes now the Defendant who wes [Q CONVICTEDOF or (X|PLEADS
TO: Burplary, Ist degren .
invioktionof § 16-11-031) of the S.C. Codo of Laws, bearing CDR Cods # 8079

7 NON-VIOLENT E TGLENT LJSERIOUS [XIMOSTSERIOUS  [Mandatory GPS(CSC D§ﬁ-2$-45
w/minor 1et o Lewd Act)

WHEREFORE, the Defendant Is commited to the State Department of Correetions, D County Detention Centor,
for o determinate term of ‘ 5 (0 underthe Youthful Offeader Act nottoexceed _ yesrs
and/orto pay a fing of § opon the serviceof dayﬂmwwymuﬂlwmmm

of$ phsewmdwmumuesbb"thewmhmﬂdwimpnwm for
months/years and subject to SoMCuoanepmmnomebmm Parole and Pardan Services standard conditions of

which are incorporated by refrence. ,
or {1 CONSECUTIVE t sentence on: . .
™M n:nefmdamismbe;imawtﬁrdme pursusnt o S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculatad end epplied
byihe State Departmen of Comrections. '
: (O The Defendant is to be placed on the Central of Child Abuse end Neglect pursuant to S.C, Code §17-28-138.

i | Pursusnt to 18 U.S.C Section 922,11 is anlawful for 8 person convicted of 8-violaticn of Section ls-zs-zou 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violenee ) to ship,transport,possess,or recelve a firesyeo or ammunfition

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
Dusrmmom (O betrres [ Dt Watves Huartsy [JOvdered  pTUP
Toak $_ ' pha20%fee: s dayw/howrs Public Servico Employment
* Payment Terms: Obtain GED i — &
. [).SetbySCDPPPS_ .. _. ——_- .- — — '-- ——"Afepd Vos. Rekab. ar Job Comp.
. May serve W/E begining
Recipient: . Substance Abuse Counseling [
*Fine: $ ' Random Drup/Alcohol testing
§ 14-1-206 (Assesstments 107.3 %) 3 Flne may be pd. mqual.mwn weekly/monthly
gwl-zz:lg))g)(gc?vs.:dm) $10 S len.vo " pmas. of $ beginning
14-1-212(AX2) (DUT Surcherge) $100 )
§ 56-5-2993 (DUI Asseament) s §——— 3 poid o Public Defender Fund
§ $6-1.286(DU1 Bresth Test) 25 3 Othar:
Proviso 47.9 (Pudlic DelProb) 83500
+ § 1421-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) 28 Soo oo
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Coun Surcharge) s FoUS— :
§ $0-21-114{BUI Breath Test Foe) s % :
§ 36-3-2342(3) (Vehicle Assessrpent) $40/ca " § (3 Appoimed PD or appointed other counsel,
Provisa 90.8 (SOCJA Surcharge) $s $ & O § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk

3%toCounty (if paid bn tnstalimenrs)
TOTAL

Clerk of Coury Depury Clerk
Court Reporter:
. SCCA217(032011)




